

# Fate of Heavy Metals Exposed to Composting Environments and Composts

# Ackmez Mudhoo\* • Romeela Mohee

Department of Chemical and Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Mauritius, Réduit, Mauritius Corresponding author: \* ackmezchem@yahoo.co.uk

# ABSTRACT

Heavy metal remediation of contaminated aqueous streams and soils is of great environmental concern. When present in excessive concentrations, heavy metals can become extremely toxic to the receiving bodies and pose serious health threats. Composting as a bioremediation technique offers the possibility to render less harmless various heavy metal contaminants using the natural biological activity of composting matrices due to the presence of bacteria, actinomycetes and lignolytic fungi. This review article presents an outlook on the speciation, immobilization mechanisms, uptake and fate of heavy metals present during the composting processes and when exposed to composts by essentially revisiting the essential biochemical and microbiological aspects of the composting process, and assessing the application of composting/composts in influencing the speciation and fate of heavy metals.

Keywords: heavy metals, fate, bioavailability, uptake mechanisms, bioremediation

Abbreviations: CC, complexing capacities; DOM, dissolved organic matter; DTPA, diethylene triamine pentacetic acid; FT–IR, Fourier transform infrared; FA, fulvic acid; HM, heavy metal; HA, humic acid; HS, humic substance; HoA, hydrophobic acid; HoN, hydrophobic neutral; HiB, hydrophilic base; HiA, hydrophilic acid; ISE, ion-selective electrode; MSW, municipal solid waste; MSWC, municipal solid wastes compost; OM, organic matter

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
THE COMPOSTING PROCESS	
HEAVY METAL METABOLISM IN COMPOSTING ENVIRONMENTS	
HMs in composts	
HM-composts interactions	
Speciation of HMs in composting media and composts	
Compost application and HMs transformations	
HMs sorption on composts	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	
REFERENCES	

# INTRODUCTION

Together with rapid industrial and economic development, a variety of anthropogenic activities have caused widespread environmental pollution of the globe (Ang et al. 2005). Organic pollutants such as pesticides and herbicides are now dispersed throughout the environment and can be highly refractory to biodegradation processes found in naturally occurring microorganisms (Martínez-Huitle et al. 2008; Sipma et al. 2010). In parallel, rapid industrialization and urbanization have resulted in the elevated emission of toxic heavy metals entering the biosphere. The term 'heavy metals', hereafter referred to as HMs, refers to metals and metalloids having densities greater than 5 g cm<sup>-1</sup> and is usually associated with pollution and toxicity. Primary sources of pollution are from the burning of fossil fuels, mining and melting of metallic ferrous ores, municipal wastes, fertilizers, pesticides, and sewage sludge (Peng et al. 2006; Elouear et al. 2008). The most common HMs contaminants are: cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), copper (Cu), lead (Pb), nickel (Ni) and zinc (Zn) (Lu et al. 2004).

The release of HMs in biologically available forms may damage or alter both natural and man-made ecosystems.

Some HMs ions are essential micronutrients for plant and human metabolism (Gamalero *et al.* 2009; Puig and Peñarrubia 2009; Lokhande *et al.* 2010), and are natural substances found, usually at low levels, in soils. However, when present in excessive concentrations in soils and groundwaters, they can become extremely toxic to the receiving living micro and macro environments and pose serious health risks and problems (Khoshgoftarmanesh *et al.* 2009). Cadmium (Cd<sup>2+</sup>) is a non–essential HM which slowly accumulates in the body of living species, usually through the food chain (Srivastava *et al.* 2006; Zhao *et al.* 2011). Nickel (Ni<sup>2+</sup>) is also toxic, especially to activated sludge bacteria and the presence of Ni<sup>2+</sup> has been reported to be detrimental to the operation of anaerobic digesters used in wastewater treatment plants. Cd<sup>2+</sup> and Ni<sup>2+</sup> ions are frequently encountered together in industrial wastewaters. Hence, it is essential to removal Cd and Ni from industrial wastewaters before transport and cycling into the nature environment.

The soil has been traditionally the site for disposal for most of the HMs wastes which need to be treated (Aboulroos *et al.* 2006). Cr in solutions mostly occurs as oxyacids and oxyanions of  $Cr^{6+}$  (Xu and Zhao 2007).  $Cr^{6+}$  is highly soluble, mobile and toxic with acute and chronic adverse effects on warm-blooded organisms. Under laboratory conditions,  $Cr^{6+}$  has been found to have the greatest biological activity and also to be mutagenic, carcinogenic, and teratogenic to a wide variety of organisms. Nevertheless, HMs such as copper have been a much overlooked contributor to many health problems but they are reported to be a cause to anorexia, fatigue, premenstrual syndrome, depression, migraines and headaches, allergies, childhood hyperactivity. Therefore, HMs remediation of aqueous streams and soils is of special concern due to the recalcitrant, persistent and ecotoxic nature of HMs in the environment (Sud *et al.* 2008; Wang *et al.* 2011).

Conventional methods for the removal of the HMs ions from wastewaters, contaminated natural waters and soils include chemical precipitation (Aziz *et al.* 2008), electroflotation (Belkacem *et al.* 2008), ion exchange (Smara *et al.* 2007), reverse osmosis (Kurniawan *et al.* 2006; Huang *et al.* 2011) and adsorption onto activated carbon and biosorbents (Cimino *et al.* 2005; Wang and Chen 2006; Park *et al.* 2011). However, due to operational demerits, high cost of the treatment and the generation of toxic chemical sludges, greener technologies have been tried for a long time. A better approach than these traditional methods is to sequester or transform them to less innocuous substances (Vidali 2001).

Bioremediation is an option that offers the possibility to make less harmless various HM contaminants using natural biological activity (Vidali 2001; Harms et al. 2011). Bioremediation is the use of living organisms, primarily microorganisms, to degrade the environmental contaminants into less toxic and harmless forms. Contaminant species are transformed by living organisms through biochemical reactions that take place as a part of their metabolic processes, and the biodegradation/biostabilization of a compound is often a result of the actions of multiple organisms or bioaugmented microbial consortia (Berthe-Corti et al. 2007; Pant and Pant 2010). There are many well-established bioremediation technologies applied at contaminated sites (Khan and Anjaneyulu 2006; Harms et al. 2011). Bioleaching, biosorption, bioaugmentation, biostimulation, biopulping, biodeterioration, biobleaching, bioaccumulation, biotransformation and bioattenuation are being actively researched on and optimized in their environmental clean-up potential (Whiteley and Lee 2006; Lü et al. 2011).

One such green bioremediation technology is the application of composting and use of compost (Ceccanti et al. 2006; Tang et al. 2009). Composting matrices and composts are rich sources of xenobiotic-degrading microorganisms including bacteria, actinomycetes and lignolytic fungi, which can degrade pollutants to harmless compounds such as carbon dioxide and water (Ryckeboer et al. 2003), or alternatively provide for contaminant sequestration pathways. Hence, these microorganisms can also metabolize pollutants into less toxic substances and/or lock up pollutants within the organic matrix, thereby reducing the pollutant bioavailability to other vulnerable media. The success of a composting bioremediation strategy depends however on countless factors, of which the pollutant bioavailability and biodegradability potential are apparently more important (Semple et al. 2001). The objective of this review is to highlight, appraise and evaluate the recent developments in the remediation of media contaminated with HMs using the composting process and composts. The review is divided into two main sections namely (i) a discussion of the essential chemical, biochemical and microbiological aspects of the composting process, and (ii) the speciation, uptake, remediation and/or fixation of HMs in the composting environment. Composting being environmentally sound and benign holds opportunities for the advancement of the bioremediation technology and offers the prospect of stabilizing some of the most recalcitrant HMs in the modern global environment.

# THE COMPOSTING PROCESS

Composting can be defined as the controlled biological de-

composition of organic substrates carried out by successive microbial populations combining both mesophilic and thermophilic activities, leading to the production of a final product sufficiently stable for storage and application to land without adverse environmental effects (Petiot and de Guardia 2004). Under optimal conditions, composting proceeds from the initial ambient state through three phases: (a) the mesophilic or moderate-temperature phase, which lasts for a few days, (b) the thermophilic or high-temperature phase, which can last from a few days to several months, and (c) the cooling and maturation phase which lasts for several months (Ghaly et al. 2006). This thermophilic stage is governed by the basic principles of heat and mass transfer and by the biological constraints of living microorganisms. Ryckeboer et al. (2003) have intensively examined the diversity and population densities of prokaryotes and fungi throughout the whole composting process of sourceseparated household wastes, i.e. from the starting material to final mature compost. Peters et al. (2000) had characterised several prokaryotes in a composting pile containing shredded maize plants, straw-bedded horse manure and wood chips. Azotobacter salinestris, Bacillus badius, Bacillus coagulans, Bacillusfusiformis, Bacillus smithii, Clostridium stercorarium subsp. thermolacticum, Geobacillus caldoxylolyticus, Lactobacillus confuses, Lactobacillus panis, Pseudomonas citronellolis, Pseudomonas stutzeri, Thermobispora bispora, Thiobacillus denitrificans and Xanthomonas campestris were identified.

Composting is applied in bioremediation as a means of degrading toxic organic compounds and perhaps lessening the toxicity of metallic contaminants in organic residues, wastes, and by-products (Cai et al. 2007a; Dolliver et al. 2008; Saviozzi et al. 2009; Anastasi et al. 2008; O'Donnell et al. 2001; Zeng et al. 2007; Fountoulakis et al. 2010). The processes of bioremediation in composting are similar to those that occur biologically in soil whereby the degradation of organic matter (OM) from organic amendments used in the remediation of metal contaminated soils leads to changes in the soil chemical properties shortly after their addition, and which may affect the soil metal distribution (Clemente et al. 2006). Büyüksönmez et al. (1999) have performed an extensive review on the fate of pesticides during composting and have concluded that the mechanisms of degradation indicated that mineralization might account for only a small portion of pesticide disappearance. The other prominent fates included partial degradation to secondary compounds, adsorption, humification, and volatilization (Carrillo-González et al. 2006). Composting may accelerate the destruction and/or fixation of contaminants (Rao et al. 1995, 1996) by virtue of the wide variety of microbes native to the composting environment. Temperatures being generally higher in composts than in soils, result in an increased solubility of contaminants and a higher metabolic activity. Moreover, high levels of substrate in composts can also lead to microbial co-metabolism and the degradation of the organic contaminants such as pesticides (Johnsen et al. 2005; Okpokwasili and Nweke 2006) and sequestration of the inorganic pollutants species.

# HEAVY METAL METABOLISM IN COMPOSTING ENVIRONMENTS

Unlike organic compounds, HMs cannot be biodegraded to simple and less harmful, if not harmless molecules. Hence, the clean-up of HMs pollution requires the immobilization and toxicity reduction or complete removal of the HMs ions. In recent years, scientists and engineers have started to generate cost effective technologies which include the use of microorganisms/biomass or live plants for cleaning of polluted areas (Kuzovkina *et al.* 2004). The fate of toxic metallic cations in contaminated soil environments depends largely on the interactions of these metal ions with the inorganic and organic surfaces. The extent to which a metallic cation interacts with these surfaces determines the concentration of metal in solution and, consequently, the potential for movement into groundwater or uptake by plants or biomass (Marques *et al.* 2009). In so happening, the HMs ions are immobilized, sequestered and rendered biochemically safer. The application of the composting process for the remediation of HMs and HM–contaminated media such as soils and wastewaters is a relatively recent technique used in environmental clean–up (Gao *et al.* 2007). The findings of Paré *et al.* (1999) also support that co–composting HM contaminated residues can substantially reduce the extractability and exchangeability of HM like Zn, Cr, Cu and Pb, thereby reducing the risks of these entering the food chain and contaminating crops, animals and water reserves.

Metal speciation information during the composting process can provide useful insight into the metal-microbial interaction and would help in the evaluation of the quality of composts. This would thence facilitate the exploitation of composts in the remediation of heavy metal contaminated land. Greenway and Song (2002) employed a systematic approach to metal speciation in compost by applying a threestep method for operationally defined metal speciation of soils and sediments, developed by the European Commission's Standards, Measurement and Testing Programme to monitor the change in metal speciation with time for four different waste composting processes. Their results have shown that in general metals become less available for the first extraction step as the composting process proceeds, and this would in principle imply that composting tends to redistribute the heavy metals from more labile forms to more fixed forms. This mechanism may then explain why the application of composts could be useful for with heavy metal contaminated land.

Different physical, chemical and biochemical processes take place during the remediation of the HMs during composting but the detailed and successive pathways taking place during composting and their effects on HM content are largely unknown (Bhattacharyya et al. 2004). Nevertheless, the first major group can be grouped into physico -chemical processes that promote and regulate mechanisms such as solubility and precipitation, adsorption, complexation, and occlusion/encapsulation (Carrillo-González et al. 2006). The processes that sequester HMs can be grossly termed sorption which, to a large extent, determines the partitioning between the solid and solution phase. These processes can be expected to predominate in severely metal -contaminated soils as biological processes could be limited by the toxicity of the metals of concern (Carrillo-González et al. 2006).

Complexation of HMs takes place is in most cases with a significant proportion of the soluble metals occurring in association with dissolved organic matter (DOM) of the composts (Carrillo-González et al. 2006). This DOM is composed of a heterogeneous mixture of fulvic and humic acids (humic substances (HSs)). HSs are breakdown products of plants and biological origins found in almost all terrestrial and aquatic environments that cannot be exactly classified as any other chemical class of compounds (e.g., polysaccharides, proteins, lignin). The size, molecular weight, elemental compositions, structure, and the number and position of functional groups of HSs vary depending on their origin, method of extraction, and natural condition prevailing their formation. HSs are operationally be classified as three fractions according to their solubility in water: fulvic acid (FA), humic acid (HA) and humin. FAs are those organic materials that are soluble in water at all pH values. HA are those materials that are soluble only above pH 2. Humin is the fraction of natural organic materials that is insoluble in water at all pH. Although precise structure of HA and FA is not attainable, the knowledge of the basic structure is required for a full understanding of the properties and function of these constituents in the environment. The main advantages of hypothetical models are:

(1) as a means of representing the average properties of HA and FA,

(2) to help in the formulation of new hypotheses regarding their structures and the development of innovative experimental schemes for the investigation, and

(3) for illustrating mechanisms of the binding of metal ions and organic compounds.

Humic and fulvic substances have a high capacity to interact with metal ions and organic and mineral substances, forming soluble or non soluble complexes with varied stability and physico-chemical properties. The involved processes are: mineral dissolution, formation of metal complexes soluble in water, formation of metal-ligand complexes soluble in water, adsorption/desorption processes (solid phase) of metallic ions, adsorption onto external mineral surfaces and adsorption onto inter-laminar mineral surfaces (Benedetti and Van Rinniburgh 1995). Given that these natural ligands occur at rather large concentrations in composts (Laborda et al. 2008; Hachicha et al. 2009) and have variable chemical composition and structure, complexation with natural organic acids from composts becomes difficult to model. Complexation can be subdivided among weakly bound ion pairs, complexes and strong ligands (Carrillo-González et al. 2006). Ion pairs refer to electrostatic interactions of a metal with an inorganic anion where the hydration shells of the ions are largely unaffected. In complexation, part of the bonding is covalent and the hydration shells of the ions are reduced, whereas with chelate ligands metals usually have more than a single binding site (Dudev and Lim 2008) and with little of the hydration shell retained.

In soil and the associated environments, naturally occurring humic substances exert strong binding strength with metals (including heavy metals). It is generally attributable to the interaction of metal ions with two important acidic binding sites of carboxylic and phenolic hydroxyl groups of humic substances (Vinkler *et al.* 1976; Piccolo and Stevenson 1981). Organic ligands derived from humic substances react with heavy metals to form complexes, which influence the concentrations of free and labile heavy metal ions and their subsequent mobilities and biotoxicities in soil and the associated environments (Gregor and Powell 1988).

According to the equilibrium description of metal complexation elucidated by Perdue (1985), the reaction between a metal ion (M) and a single binding site (Li) to form a 1:1 complex can be described by a formation constant, as exemplified by the formation constant for the reaction:

 $M + L_i = ML_i$  (Chien *et al.* 2003) (Eq. 1):

 $K_i = \{ML_i\}/\{M\}\{L_i\} = [ML_i]/[M][L_i] \cdot \gamma_{MLi}/\gamma_M \gamma L_i = K_i^c \Gamma_i$ 

where M is a metal aquo ion,  $L_i$  is a fully deprotonated binding site,  $ML_i$  is the complex formed from one mole each of M and  $L_i$ , braces { } and square brackets [ ] denote activities and concentrations, respectively, and  $\gamma$ -values are activity coefficients. The formation constant  $K_i$  is a true thermodynamic constant, independent of solution composition. The concentration quotient  $K_i^c$  and the activity coefficient ratio  $\Gamma_i$  are, however, complementary functions of ionic strength (Chien *et al.* 2003). For mathematical convenience, a conditional concentration quotient  $K_i^*$  is often defined in which the precise terms in Eq. (1) are replaced by more convenient terms (Eq. 2):

### $K_{i}^{*} = [ML_{i} (bound)]/[M (free)][L_{i} (free)]$

In this equation, M (free) represents all forms of the metal ion that are not bound to the ligand of interest,  $L_i$  (free) represents all forms of the ligand that are not bound to the metal ion, and ML<sub>i</sub> (bound) represents all complexes of 1: 1 metal: ligand stoichiometry. Unlike K<sup>c</sup><sub>i</sub>, which is only a function of ionic strength, K<sup>\*</sup><sub>i</sub> is a function of ionic strength, pH, concentrations of competing metal ions and ligands, and so on. If all side reactions are well understood, K<sup>\*</sup><sub>i</sub> is a useful parameter that can be directly related to K<sup>c</sup><sub>i</sub>. The extension of this treatment to a complex mixture such as humic substances is straightforward (Chien *et al.* 2003).

Inasmuch as the individual components of such mixtures are unknown, it is impossible to rigorously describe the competing side reactions of the ligand mixture. Conditional concentration quotients or related hybrid expressions are thus used exclusively, and an "average" conditional concentration quotient is often defined by formal analogy with Eq. (2) (Chien *et al.* 2003) (Eq. 3):

 $K'^* = \Sigma[ML_i(bound)]/[M(free)]\Sigma[L_i(free)]$ 

where  $\Sigma[ML_i \text{ (bound)}]$  is the sum of the concentrations of all complexes formed between M and the multiligand mixture,  $\Sigma[L_i \text{ (free)}]$  is the sum of the concentrations of all binding sites that are not associated with M, and M (free) is the sum of all metal species that are not associated with the multi-ligand mixture.

There are also high significant correlations between different forms of HM content and degree of humification for the elements. Ciavatta et al. (1993) had reported high correlations between HM content and the degree of humification for Cu, Zn, Pb, Cr, Ni and Cd for composts produced from municipal solid wastes (MSW) both with and without the removal of inert components prior to the beginning of the composting process, and with most of the extractants. The biochemical reactions in the composting process therefore increase the humic acid content as opposed to the fulvic acid and this transformation is mainly responsible in serving as a binding agent for the HMs thereby moderating the rapid metal mobilization (Bhattacharyya et al. 2004). The effects of humic acids (HAs) isolated from mature compost on the distribution of HMs and on organic-C mineralisation in two contaminated soils were studied in incubation experiments by Clemente and Bernal (2006). HAs were added to an acid soil (pH 3.4; 966 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> Zn and 9,229 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> Pb as main contaminants) and to a calcareous soil (pH 7.7; 2,602 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> Zn and 1,572 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> Pb as main contaminants) at a rate of 1.1 g organic-C added per 100 g soil. Clemente and Bernal (2006) concluded that HA-rich materials like composts could be useful amendments for soil remediation involving stabilization, although a simultaneous but slight mobilization of Zn, Pb and Cu could be provoked in acidic soils.

#### HMs in composts

HMs composition of composts varies widely depending on the sources, composting process (He et al. 1992) and geo-graphical location (Krogmann 1999). The levels of HMs in MSW composts have been reported for many countries in the world by several authors (He et al. 1992; Koivula et al. 2000). Like soils, sediments and sludge, HMs can exist in a variety of forms in composts. These forms include (i) water -soluble, (ii) exchangeable, (iii) linked to organic substances, (iv) locked or co-precipitated with oxides, carbonates and phosphates, or other secondary minerals and (v) ions in the crystalline lattices of the primary minerals (Petruzzelli 1989; Iwegbue et al. 2006a, 2006b). The first three chemical forms are considered to be balanced among themselves and this equilibrium is influenced by pH and the concentrations of metals and ligands. The metals present in these forms are considered to be most available forms of plant nutrition, each successive form representing less availability.

The water-soluble fraction of HMs is the most biologically active form (Iwegbue *et al.* 2007). The high toxicity potential of this fraction is proven by the higher sensitivity exhibited by plants grown in hydroponic media. The water soluble fraction has the highest potential of contamination of food chain, surface water and groundwater (Leita and De Nobili 1991). Leita and De Nobili (1991) reported a progressive increase in total metal concentration during composting as a result of mineralization of organic matter (Barker and Bryson 2002). During composting, the species of HM often change and in turn alter the availability to plants, which would also change metal availability (Simeoni *et al.* 1984; Giordano *et al.* 1975). Amir *et al.* (2005) have reported that the total metal contents in final composts were much lower than the limit values of composts to be used as good soil fertilizer. Furthermore, it was observed that at different steps of treatment, a large proportion of the HMs were associated to the residual fraction and more resistant fractions to extraction X–NaOH, X–EDTA, X–HNO<sub>3</sub>. Less than 2% of metals had been found bound to bioavailable fractions X–(KNO<sub>3</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>O). In addition, Amir *et al.* (2005) found significant degrees of correlation between the HM fractions and the changes of pH, ash, organic matter, humic substance during the composting process.

Metallic contaminants may enter composts from farm manures (Sims and Wolf 1994), sewage sludges (Hyun et al. 1998), MSWs (Barbarick et al. 1998), and pesticides (Moolenaar and Beltrami 1998). Unlike organic contaminants, metallic contaminants in feedstock are not lessened quantitatively during composting (Barker and Bryson 2002). However, the bioavailability of metallic contaminants may be lessened by composting (Chaney and Ryan 1993). HSs and iron oxides in composts can limit the bioavailability of metals as well as organics in composts. Because of the loss of carbon during composting as a result of microbially mediated mineralization, the concentrations of metallic contaminants in solid wastes may be increased. Paré et al. (1999) have reported increases in total concentrations of some residual HMs, ranging from 26 to 145% increases after 41 days of composting of biosolids and MSWs. Paré et al. (1998, 1999) suggested that the stabilized organic matter formed complexes with metals and restricted their mobility and bioavailability for plant absorption. However, composting may occasionally release contaminating metals from organic combination by the degradation of the organometallic complexes, leading to increased bioavailability of metals (Heyes et al. 1998). In raw farm manures and in composts, metals such as Cu are associated with the organic fraction (Leita and de Nobili 1991). Hsu and Lo (2000) reported that the leaching of copper, manganese, and zinc from composted hog (Sus scrofa) manure was low due to interactions of the metals with the organic material in the compost. Immature composts, however, had a higher potential for leaching of copper than mature composts. Some of this effect may have been pH-related, as extractable manganese and zinc were low in alkaline conditions (Barker and Bryson 2002). On the other hand, in alkaline-stabilized sludges, leaching of metals may be high, due to the dissolution of organic matter at high pH (McBride 1998).

#### **HM**-composts interactions

The physical, chemical and biochemical processes during composting which cause the uptake of HMs may occur individually, successively or in competition with each other. These processes and mechanisms determine the fate of HMs during the composting process and/or in response to composts. Garcia et al. (1995) had studied the influence of composting on sewage sludges contaminated with high concentrations of Cd, Cu, Ni and Zn. The contamination by Cd led to a much lower degree of nitrification during the composting, and hydrolytic enzyme activities showed that large quantities of HMs could have a negative effect on urease synthesis. Similarly, HM contamination negatively affected phosphatase; although not  $\beta$ -glucosidase, which increased with the level of contamination. Interestingly, the composting process had rendered insoluble that portion of the metals which could be extracted with diethylene triamine pentacetic acid (DTPA), CaCl<sub>2</sub> or H<sub>2</sub>O by forming metal -humus complexes. Of the metals which were present at high quantity in the sewage sludges (Ni, Cu, Zn and Cd), Ni was the most easily extracted by H<sub>2</sub>O or CaCl<sub>2</sub> and was therefore to be the one most weakly bound to the organic matrix of the composting substrates, while Zn, in contrast, remained strongly bound. Paré et al. (1999) have determined the chemical distributions of Cu, Zn, Cr, Pb, Ni and Co by eight sequential extractions of co-composted materials sampled during an entire composting period. It had been found that the concentrations of residual Zn, Cr, Cu and Pb had increased by 145, 124, 73.6 and 26.3% whereas

the concentration of residual Ni remained relatively constant while that Co decreased by 60% over the same period. From a mechanistic point of view, the Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectra indicated that the HMs in the compost had bonded to the COO- groups of the organic matter.

Grimes et al. (1999) reported that the relative binding of Cd, Cu, Pb, and Zn contained in natural compost was in the order  $Pb > Cd \approx Cu > Zn$ , with the sorption of metals on compost taking place, at least in part, by the exchange of calcium bound to the compost in both humic and non -humic sites in the compost. Gibert et al. (2005) have evaluated the potential of a mixture of municipal compost and calcite in an upflow packed column to promote sulphidogenesis in the remediation of a simulated mine water containing HMs. Their results showed that Fe, Al, Zn and Cu were significantly removed, and the removal was attributable to the combined precipitation as metal (oxy)hydroxides and carbonates, co-precipitation with these (oxy)hydroxides and sorption onto the compost surface rather than to precipitation as metal sulphides. The two last mechanisms had been determined to be especially significant for Zn, whose hydroxide was not expected to precipitate at pH 6-7. Gibert et al. (2005) proposed that before the saturation of compost sorption sites, 60% of the influent Zn had been removed by co-precipitation with Fe- and Al-(oxy)hydroxide and 40% by sorption onto the municipal compost. Malley et al. (2006) have investigated the effect of Cu and Zn on dehydrogenase and protease activity of the substrate during vermicomposting on their bioaccumulation and impact on the reproduction of Eisenia fetida. It was found that the Cu ions had accumulated within the worm tissues in dosage concentrations up to a maximum level of 213 mg Cu and the number of juveniles decreased from the lowest kg<sup>-</sup> to highest dosages of Cu and Zn after 10 weeks of the experiment. It was also determined that dehydrogenase showed a strong negative correlation with increased dosage of Cu, while protease remained unaffected. Hence, reductions in dehydrogenase activity with increasing dosages of Cu and Zn indicated that these metals would most probably impact detrimentally on the microbiology and consequently the stabilization of the dosed media, and affect the biodegradation rates of bioavailable organic matter in the composting matrices.

HM distribution and bioavailability also show some changes during composting depending on the metal itself and the physico-chemical properties of the medium (Amir et al. 2005). Bioavailable fractions of all elements tend to decrease except Ni-H<sub>2</sub>O. Zn and mainly Cu present more affinity to organic and carbonate fractions. In contrast, Pb is usually preferentially bound to sulphide forms X-HNO<sub>3</sub> while nickel shows a significant decrease of organic form. Cai et al. (2007b) have monitored the concentrations and speciation of HMs in six different composts of sewage sludges deriving from two wastewater treatment plants. Cai et al. (2007b) found that in all the final composts, more than 70% of total Cu was associated with the organic matter -bound fraction, while Zn was mainly concentrated in the exchangeable and Fe-Mn oxide-bound fractions which implied the high mobility and bioavailability. In a study on the treatment of sewage sludge by forced-aeration composting, Zheng et al. (2007) found that the Ni and Cr concentrations had increased by 30.4 and 36.0%, respectively. All the more, exchangeable, carbonate-bound, Fe-Mn oxide -bound, and organic matter-bound Ni and Cr were transformed to residual fractions. For Cr, the carbonate-bound, Fe-Mn oxide-bound, and organic matter-bound fractions were major contributors, while organic matter-bound Ni was a major contributor to the residual fraction.

# Speciation of HMs in composting media and composts

The effect of HMs in composts on crops and the receiving bodies can only be attained from precise knowledge of the HM speciation and the response to plant species (Iwegbue et al. 2007). In addition, speciations will determine HM mobility and hence their potential contamination of groundwater following compost application. The methods used to characterize HMs in solid phase of composts and compost amended soils include physical fractionation and chemical extraction. Chemical extraction schemes are the most frequently used approach to fractionate trace metals in soils, sewage sludge and composts, and several variations exist in the sequential extraction procedures (Iwegbue et al. 2007). These variations include reagent types, strength, volume and extraction time. However, a major drawback shared by all sequential extraction schemes is the complexity and time consuming nature of the procedures (Liu et al. 2007). Garcia et al. (1990) studied the simplest sequential chemical extraction technique with CaCl<sub>2</sub> and DTPA to examine the extractability of metals over composting time. It was reported that CaCl<sub>2</sub> extractable Fe, Cu, Mn, Zn, Ni and Pb as percentage of total metal content decreased after 90 days of composting. DTPA extractable Fe, Mn, Ni and Pb decreased but DTPA extractable Cu and Zn increased from 14 to 18% and 27.1 to 35.2%, respectively. DTPA hence always extracted considerably more trace metals than CaCl<sub>2</sub> except for Fe, in which CaCl<sub>2</sub> extracted more Fe than DTPA. This suggested that the organic compounds had bound more trace metals than held on the exchange sites. Fractionation techniques using different reagents (salts, bases and in some cases, acids) are used to assess how elements change their chemical state in response to changing soil conditions, and to identify the chemical species present in the solid phase (Chang et al. 1994).

#### **Compost application and HMs transformations**

The major technical concern with land application of sewage sludge composts is the high concentrations of HMs. These HMs may leach and enter the ecosystem, the food chain, and eventually the human population (Liu *et al.* 2007). Hence, the need to assess the limitations of compost use on agricultural soils has created a demand for information on the availability of metals in municipal solid waste and sewage sludge composts (Leita and De Nobili 1991). The degree of stabilization reached by organic matter appears to be an important factor in determining the potential mobility and uptake by plants of the HMs.

Chiu et al. (2006) have conducted a greenhouse study to evaluate the feasibility of using Vetiveria zizanioides (vetiver) and Phragmities australis (common reed) for the reclamation of Pb/Zn and Cu mine tailings and to assess the effects of using manure compost and sewages sludge as organic amendments on the revegetation of these tailings. Results revealed that the applications of manure compost or sewage sludge not only increased N, P and K concentrations, but also decreased DTPA extractable Pb and Zn contents in Pb/Zn tailings and DTPA-extractable Cu contents in Cu tailings. Plant tissue analysis also shwoed that the application of manure compost and sewage sludge had significantly reduced the Pb uptake and accumulation, but not Cu in both vetiver and common reed. Topcuoğlu (2005) also observed an increase in both total and DTPA-extractable concentrations of Zn, Cu, Ni and Pb in a two-year study where manure, sewage sludge and MSW compost were applied to greenhouse soil with tomato plants being grown. Topcuoğlu (2005) also reported that the amount of bioavailable metals in the greenhouse soil were significantly higher for the sewage sludge and MSW compost treatments, almost including a 9-, 6- and 3-fold increase in Zn, Cu and Pb, respectively. Oleszczuk (2008) have observed that the composting process significantly influenced on Ni, Cd, Cr and Pb content in a very few number of cases. An increase of HMs content was noted in the case of Cd, Cr and Ni whereas Pb content decreased. Oleszczuk (2008) explained this rare increase in the sewage sludge toxicity after their composting to be the result of the formation of toxic metabolites of organic compounds, or condensation of HMs as a result of mass losses taking place during the composting process. Usman *et al.* (2004) explained that observed increase of mobile Zn, Cd, Cu, and Ni in soil amended with sewage sludge as a result of a high content of heavy metals in sewage sludge, the formation of soluble HMs–organic associations and a decrease in soil pH. Liu *et al.* (2007) found that the residue fraction for Pb, Zn and Cd had decreased but those for Ni and Cr had increased and with the Cu residue fraction being quasi constant. Also, the contents of the total mobile fractions for Zn and Pb were significantly increased, and there were significant degrees of correlation between HM fractions and changes of pH, composting temperature, and OM content.

Bartl et al. (2002) investigated the influence of different fertilization systems (consisting of biowaste compost and mineral fertilizer) on the nutrient and HM contents of soil and plants. Bartl et al. (2002) reported that the five-year fertilization with composted biowaste did not influence the total contents of Cd, Mn, Mo, and Ni in soil, but the total soil contents of Zn and Pb were significantly higher in soils of the BC treatment than in the unfertilized control, while the mineral fertilization had inhibited the Mo uptake by plants. The effects of two differing organic amendments on OM mineralization and fractionation of HMs in a contaminated soil have been investigated in an incubation experiment by Clemente et al. (2006). Treatments were done with a control unamended soil, soil amended with fresh cow manure, and soil amended with a compost having a high maturity. It was reported that both amendments had favoured Zn and Pb fixation, particularly the manure, while Mn solubility increased at the beginning of the experiment due to a pH effect, and only Cu solubility increased through organic matter chelation in both amended soils.

Zhang et al. (2004) have evaluated the solubility and fractionation of heavy metals in media containing 0, 25, 50, 75, or 100% compost derived from biosolids and yard trimmings for potential impacts on the environment. As compost proportion in peat-based media increased from 0 to 100%, concentrations of Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn, and Mn in the media increased whereas concentrations of total Co and Cr decreased. Except for Cu, all HMs in the water-soluble fraction decreased with increasing compost proportion in the media, because of higher Fe, Al, and Ca concentrations and pH values of the composts than the peat. When the media pH was controlled and maintained at normal range of plant growth (5.5-6.5), leaching of the HMs was found to be minimal. For all elements, the amounts extracted depended highly on pH, and water solubility of all elements increased sharply with decreasing pH. The pH values at which a sharp increase in element concentration occurred were 4 to 5 for Cd, Cu, Co, Cr, Ni, Zn, and Pb. At pH 5.0 to 8.0, solubilities of heavy metals, including Cd, Co, Cr, Pb, Zn, and Ni, were generally low, and the released percentages of Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, and Zn at pH 5 to 8 were 3.2, 1.4, 0.3, 2.9, 2.8, 1.4, and 2.5%, respectively. A possible explanation could have been that adsorption of the metal ions on hydrous oxide of Fe or Al, or coprecipitation with CaCO<sub>3</sub> at this pH range, was high. The pH values of media amended with varying rates of compost ranged from 6.52 to 6.86, thus falling within this pH range. Media amended with compost have a relatively high pH value and, thus, minimize environmental pollution by soluble heavy metals. However, when pH was greater than 8.0, the solubility of Cu increased sharply, probably because of an increase in dissolution of organic complex Cu at high pH. The variation in the solubilities of heavy metals at different pH values was larger than the variation due to a difference in compost proportion. Thus, pH seems to be the dominating factor controlling water solubility of the metals.

The concentrations of heavy metals in the media recovered by five successive water extractions were also used to assess the leaching potential of these elements. Leaching potential of the elements varied with compost rates and water extraction sequence. In the first extraction, soluble Cd, Co, Ni, Pb, Zn, and Mn decreased (52.3 to 3.1  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> for Cd, 36.5 to 21.0  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> for Co, 518.8 to 306.5  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> for Ni, 417.7 to 83.4  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> for Pb, 4.75 to 1.08 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Zn, and 6.98 to 0.68 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Mn), whereas Cr, Cu, and P increased (17.4 to 41.5 $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup> for Cr, 0.68 to 1.86 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for Cu, and 189.7 to 241.8 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for P) with increasing compost.

Furthermore, the metal accumulation and DTPA-extractability in a sandy soil of Spain after three successive applications of MSW compost (MSWC) under intensive farming conditions were studied by Madrid et al. (2007). MSWC was applied for three consecutive crops in a plot of the soil in a greenhouse at a rate of 2.1, 2.1, and 1.8 kg m<sup>-</sup> on a dry matter basis, respectively. One more crop was planted, but no compost was applied to monitor residual effects of the treatment. A control plot did not receive any compost during the experiment. A rotation of crops was used during the experiment with tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) as the first crop, followed by zucchini (Cucurbita pepo var. melopepo), green pepper (Capsicum annuum), and finally tomato again. Although moderate rates of MSWC were used and metal content of the compost was below the legal limits in Spain, increases in metal contents were observed in the soil, compared with the control treat-ment without the MSWC. After the second application of compost, increases in aqua regia-extractable (pseudo-total content) Zn and Pb were found in the 0-25 cm layer, and after the third application, Cu and Ni contents were also increased. Furthermore, increases in DTPA-extractable (available content) concentrations of metal contents were observed at higher rates than in aqua-regia extractable contents, suggesting that metals added with compost were more available than native metals in soils. Madrid et al. (2007) concluded that the increases in the available fraction of the metal after MSWC application, the sandy characteristics of the soil, and the high irrigation rates practiced could have favoured the leaching of the metals through the soil profile. Lately, O'Dell et al. (2007) have conducted a battery of laboratory and greenhouse studies to better understand how Cu and Zn toxicity influences Bromus carinatus (Hook and Arn.) growth and to what degree a yard waste compost amendment could reduce Cu and Zn bioavailability in Cu-Zn minespoil and promote plant growth in combination with fertilizer. It was reported that the compost amendment had exceptionally high Cu and Zn binding capacities at 0.17 and 0.08 g metal  $g^{-1}$  C, for Cu and Zn, respectively. Further analysis showed that these high binding capacities were due to high compost humic and fulvic acid concentrations and that the compost amendment had decreased the toxic bioavailable HM concentrations in the metalliferous minespoil.

Plant roots can play an important role in the transformation and chemical speciation of HMs in soils and composts (Yang et al. 2005). Three mechanisms can be influenced by plant roots: modification of the compost environment in the rhizosphere, transformation of chemical form of HMs, and biosorption (Carrillo-González et al. 2006). Roots exude plant metabolites including several forms of carbohydrates and organic acids that can serve as energy source for compost microbes. These low molecular-weight organic acids can complex metal ions rendering them potentially more mobile and bioavailable. Microbes can also carry out important biotic redox reactions for some HMs (Mahimairaja et al. 2005) including the transformations of multivalent anionic HMs, such as As, Cr, and Se by altering their oxidation state and chemical species. A number of studies (Hussein et al. 2005; Şahin and Öztürk 2005; Lu et al. 2006; Wang and Chen 2006; Chen and Wang 2007; Romera et al. 2007; Sheng et al. 2008; Choi et al. 2009; Choudhary and Sar 2009; Ertuğrul et al. 2009; Vala 2010) have reported the use of biotic species such as bacteria, fungi and algae in being successful in uptaking HMs.

#### HMs sorption on composts

Metal adsorption to soil after the application of organic wastes has been studied in single metal systems (Zhou and Wong 2001). On the other hand, few studies have investi-

gated the competitive metal adsorption in terms of the quality of organic matter in soils amended with sewage sludge, composted sewage sludge or other composts. Research efforts have in preference been focused on the evaluation of HM mobility, partitioning and sorption in temperate soils (Walter *et al.* 2002).

The interaction of Cu with dissolved organic matter (DOM) is an important physicochemical process affecting Cu mobility in soils. The aim of the study of Zhou and Wong (2001) was to investigate the effects of DOM from anaerobically digested dewatered sludge and sludge compost on the sorption of Cu on an acidic sandy loam and a calcareous clay loam. The results of this specific study have been of particularly high significance in elucidating part of the metal-DOM interactions. The amount of Cu sorbed increased with an increase in equilibrium Cu concentrations and eventually attained a plateau value at high equilibrium Cu concentrations. The sorption capacity of the calcareous soil for Cu was much higher than that of the acidic sandy loam at the same equilibrium concentration of Cu, which might be because of the higher pH, clay mineral and carbonate contents, and higher CEC of the calcareous soil. More variable negative charges and sorption sites were formed in the soil of higher pH and clay mineral contents, which favor Cu sorption.

On the other hand, the higher pH and carbonate contents may also facilitate Cu precipitation as Cu(OH)<sub>2</sub>and/or CaCO<sub>3</sub>. In the presence of DOM, the Cu sorption capacity decreased markedly for both soils, but the effect on the calcareous soil was greater than that on the acidic sandy loam. Dissolved organic matter derived from sludge compost had a smaller effect in reducing the sorption capacity for Cu than that of sludge for both soil types. The origin and concentration of DOM affected not only the Cu sorption of the two soils, but the desorption of Cu sorbed previously in the sorption study. A relatively higher desorption was found for Cu sorbed in the presence of a higher concentration of DOM, especially for sludge DOM treatment. This might result from a stronger binding affinity of Cu with sludge DOM, and as a result it hinders partly the precipitation of Cu as Cu(OH)<sub>2</sub> under such a high-pH condition, as compared with compost DOM. In addition, it was assumed that the higher affinity of the Cu-compost DOM to the soil matrix may also contribute to this phenomenon. This implied that Cu mobility might be facilitated greatly in the soil receiving DOM, especially for sludge DOM, because of the reduction of Cu sorption onto soil and the relatively ready desorption of Cu sorbed previously in the presence of DOM. The differences in Cu sorption and desorption behavior caused by DOM of different original materials appeared to be closely related to the chemical components of DOM. Sludge compost DOM contained a relatively greater amount of high molecular weight hydrophobic fractions, especially hydrophobic acid (HoA) and hydrophobic neutral (HoN), but fewer hydrophilic fractions, especially hydrophilic base (HiB) and hydrophilic acid (HiA), than that of sludge DOM.

The Fourier transform infrared (FT-IR) spectrum from Zhou et al. (2000) showed that the hydrophobic fraction had a considerably more aromatic acids or aromatic phenols, while the hydrophilic fraction was richer in carboxyl and polyhydroxyl groups. Sludge DOM appeared to have more C–N and C–O groups of a chelating feature, possibly from organic acid, amino acid, and amines, than compost DOM, especially for the HiA, HiB, and HoA fractions. Keefer et al. (1984) pointed out that the HiB fraction was mainly comprised of N-containing groups including most amino acids, amino sugars, low molecular weight amines, and pyridine, while the HiA fraction contained the components of the -COO functional group, such as uronic acids, simple organic acids, and polyfunctional acids, which resulted in the higher affinity of Cu with HiB. In addition, many researchers also revealed that hydrophobic fractions of DOM bind more strongly on soils and minerals than the hydrophilic fractions (Jardine et al. 1989; Gu et al. 1995; Kaiser et al. 1997). Liang et al. (1996) found that increased sorption of the

DOM extracted from the composted manure is probably due to an increase in molecular weight of the major DOM components. It is reasonable to presume that the reduction of mobile DOM in the soil receiving sludge compost DOM was due either to sorption of greater amounts of compost DOM in comparison with sludge DOM by the soils, or the formation of a Cu–compost DOM complex. The Cu–compost DOM complex could be sorbed repeatedly by the soils, although DOM sorption by soils was not measured in this study. In contrast, sludge DOM contained more HiB fraction, which was not readily sorbed by soils but could strongly associate with Cu. Thus, sludge DOM had a stronger capability to reduce Cu sorption by soils than did compost DOM.

The agricultural practice of amending soils with composted municipal solid waste (MSW) adds significant amounts of organic matter and trace metals, including Cd. Under these conditions, soluble organic complexes of Cd formed in the compost may be more significant than previously thought, due to Cd bioavailability and mobility in the soil environment. To study the relative importance of different types of organic ligands in MSW compost for the binding of Cd, six fractions of the DOM in addition to humic acid (HA) and fulvic acid (FA) were extracted and their complexation of Cd quantified at pH 7 using an ionselective electrode (ISE) in an elaborate study by Kaschl et al. (2002). The highest complexing capacities (CC) for Cd were found for the most humified ligands: HA (2,386 µmol Cd  $g^{-1}$  C of ligand), predialyzed FA (2,468 µmol Cd  $g^{-1}$  C), and HoA, a fulvic-type, easily soluble fraction (1042 µmol Cd  $g^{-1}$  C). The differences in CC for Cd of the various organic ligands were not directly related to total acid-titratable or carboxylic groups, indicating the importance of sterical issues and other functional groups.

A fairly good third-degree polynomial fit could be achieved for data of HA, FA>1000, HoA, HiN, and HiA. Data points for FA, HoN, and HiB from different titrations were somewhat divergent, possibly because of the more heterogeneous nature of these fractions. The strongest binding sites (pK<sub>int</sub>) for Cd at low ratios of Cd to ligand were found on HA (pK<sub>int</sub> 10.05), followed by HiB (pK<sub>int</sub> 8.11). The pK<sub>int</sub>for all other fractions was similar: 7.98 for FA 1000, 6.80 for FA (here the polynomial fit was not satisfactory, hence pKivalues for the continuous model were not calculated), 7.74 for HoA, 7.69 for HoN, 7.02 for HiA, and 6.93 for HiN. These stability constants are high in comparison with literature data obtained for humic substances. This may be due to the relatively high pH (7) and the low ionic strength (0.01 M) of the tested solution. Both factors have indeed been reported to result in higher formation constants (Saar and Weber 1979; Stevenson et al. 1993; Logan et al. 1997). It has also been recognized that association constants for metal-organic complexes in the literature are often unrealistically low, since they are based on measurements at high metal loadings on the complexing sites of OM (McBride et al. 1999). The metal binding at the strongest binding site at low metal to ligand ratios is not monitored well by the discrete (noncontinuous) models due to a limitation of the method sensitivity. Trace metals, in fact, occupy different and more selective bonding sites at low metal levels (McBride et al. 1999).

At present, there are only a few studies regarding the treatment of wastewaters containing HMs by vermicompost. However, Jordão *et al.* (2002), Carrasquero Durán *et al.* (2006), Jadia and Fulekar (2008), Urdaneta *et al.* (2008) and Jordão *et al.* (2009) have found that metal concentrations in the purified effluents were below the maximum values established for waste discharges by the prevalent local standards. They also reported that the vermicompost residues obtained from the metal retention process could be applied as a fertilizer to agricultural lands. Vermicompost is a 'peat–like' material with high porosity, aeration, drainage, water holding capacity and microbial activity (Ansari 2008; Sharma *et al.* 2009; Munnoli *et al.* 2010). It contains most nutrients in plant available forms such as nitrates, phos-

phates, exchangeable calcium and soluble potassium and has large particular surface area that provides many microsites for microbial activity and for the strong retention of nutrients (Singh et al. 2008). Humic materials extracted from vermicomposts have been reported to produce auxinlike cell growth and nitrate metabolism of carrots. However humic substances can occur naturally in mature animal manure, sewage sludge or paper-mill sludge but their amount and rates of production are increased dramatically by vermicomposting (Romero et al. 2007). Vermicompost has been proposed as a biosorbent for removing metallic ions such as Pb, Ni, Cr and V from wastewaters by Urdaneta et al. (2008). They reported it as a promising alternative for decontamination taking advantage of the humic and fulvic substances interaction with metals. The following discussion focuses on the research advances that have been realized when using composts for the removal of some HMs by adsorption onto compost as biosorbent.

Jordão et al. (2002) reported that Cu, Zn and Ni retention by cattle manure vermicompost from electroplating wastes were close to 100%. They also reported that it was not necessary to correct the effluent pH during the treatment process to reach the levels recommended by Brazilian legislation for discharge into water courses. Ulmanu et al. (2003) and Chen et al. (2005) have investigated the sorption of Cd ions onto two other types of composts. Ulmanu et al. (2003) found that of all the adsorbents studied, bentonite and compost presented the highest removal efficiencies, reaching 99% for copper when cadmium is also present while Chen et al. (2005) found that the maximum uptake estimated with the Langmur isotherm model were 833.33 mg g<sup>-1</sup> for Cd<sup>2+</sup>, 1,000.00 mg g<sup>-1</sup> for Pb<sup>2+</sup> and 44.44 mg g<sup>-1</sup> for Cr<sup>3+</sup>, respectively, when spent mushroom compost of Lentinus edodes was used as a biosorbent for adsorbing cadmium, lead and chromium from solutions under batch conditions. All the results showed that vast potential sorption capacity was existed in the biomass (compost) for adsorbing these three kinds of metals studied. Carrasquero Durán *et al.* (2006) have studied the adsorption of  $Pb^{2-1}$ on vermicompost at 11, 30 and 50°C by using Langmuir and Freundlich models. The maximum adsorption capacities were 116.3; 113.6 and 123.5  $\mu g g^{-1}$  for each temperature, respectively. The differences in Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy spectra of vermicompost at pH 7.0 in the region from 1,800 to 1,300 cm<sup>-1</sup> were interpreted on the basis of carboxyl acid ionization that reduced band intensity around 1,725 cm<sup>-1</sup> producing signals at 1,550 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1,390 cm<sup>-1</sup> of carboxylate groups. Lately, a couple of fresh studies on the use of composts for heavy metals adsorption have been reported by Kocasoy and Güvener (2009). Kocasoy and Güvener (2009) determined the retention capacity of compost for copper, zinc, nickel and chromium. For this purpose, experiments in batch-mixing reactors with initial metal concentrations ranging from 100 to 1,000 mg L were carried out. Kocasoy and Güvener (2009) observed that compost could repeatedly be used in metal sorption processes, and their experiments indicated that compost has high retention capacities for copper, zinc and nickel, but not for chromium. Thus, compost is a very good potential biosorbent for copper, zinc and nickel and may find place in industrial applications.

Compost microorganisms and invertebrates can also promote the immobilization of metal ions by biological accumulation. Such accumulation is facilitated by biosorption by the microbial biomass and its byproducts and physiological uptake by organisms through metabolically active and passive processes (Mahimairaja *et al.* 2005). Microbes can dissolve minerals by direct or indirect action under the aerobic conditions prevailing in composting matrices (Kurek 2002). Metals can also be mobilized from minerals by complexation with biomolecules of microbial metabolites. Microorganisms have developed two major strategies of internal sequestration of HMs though the formation of inclusion bodies for instance in vacuoles (Davies *et al.* 1991; Korotaev *et al.* 1992; Haag–Kerwer *et al.* 1999; Davis *et al.*  2003; Yang et al. 2005; Shao and Sun 2007; Zhang et al. 2008; Kazy et al. 2009) and binding of metals to heat-stable proteins, such as phytochelatins and metallothioneins, and stable molecules such as ferrihydrite (Hall 2005). The ability of a microorganism to tolerate and to resist HM toxicity may be summarized as involving more than one of the following mechanisms (Giasson et al. 2008): fungal gene expression, extracellular metal sequestration and precipitation, production of metallothioneins (metal binding proteins, avoidance of metals (reduced uptake or increased efflux, formation of complexes outside cells, release of organic acids), intracellular chelation (synthesis of ligands such as polyphoshates and metallothioneins), compartmentalization within leaf vacuoles, loss of leafs during dry or cold seasons, phosphorus plant status or interaction between P and metals (increased P uptake by host plant), biological sorption via glomalin and volatilization. Perales-Vela et al. (2006) present a rich and comprehensive discussion the on detoxification of HMs in eukaryotic microalgae by addressing aspects on enzymatically synthesized short-chain polypeptides named phytochelatins (class III metallothioneins), class II metallothioneins (identified in cyanobacteria, algae and higher plants), and class I metallothioneins found in most vertebrates, class III metallothionein biosynthesis and regulation, HM sequestration and compartmentalization to the vacuole though HM-MtIII complexation, a general scheme of HM detoxification mechanism mediated by MtIII in microalgae, HM sequestration to the chloroplast and mitochondria, algae-based biotechnologies for HM remediation.

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

In this review, composts and the composting environment have been portrayed as heterogeneous mixtures of biotic (i.e., organic matter, microbes and microbial metabolites) and abiotic (i.e., salts, precipitates and miscellaneous inorganic) materials. In this review, it has also been shown with several examples of relevant studies that phase associations of HMs include water soluble, exchangeable, precipitated, co-precipitated in metal oxides, adsorbed/desorbed or complexed by organic ligands and residual fractions, biosorbed onto composts, and bioaccumulated by various bacterial, fungal and algal species by volatilization, vacuolar compartmentalization, intracellular and extracellular chelation. The phase associations and solubility of the HMs change over composting time and when exposed to composts, thereby altering their bioavailability and mobility.

In summary, an understanding of the various physical and biogeochemical processes and how they are influenced in their individual or competitive effects by certain factors such as pH, temperature, OM content is necessary to predict the fate of HMs in compost–enriched media. Advances in research on HM mobility in such media have become important by reason of the efforts to blend the conventional saturated flow and transport models with more precise biogeochemical models with a view to better simulate and capture the interactive and complex processes in such heterogeneous systems. Nevertheless, the broad conclusion is that composting degrades or binds HM pollutants to innocuous levels or into innocuous compounds and has substantial potential for remediation of such polluted materials.

# REFERENCES

- Aboulroos SA, Helal MID, Kamel MM (2006) Remediation of Pb and Cd polluted soils using in situ immobilization and phytoextraction techniques. *Soil Sedimentation and Contamination* 15, 199-215
- Amir S, Hafidi M, Merlina G, Revel JC (2005) Sequential extraction of heavy metals during composting of sewage sludge. *Chemosphere* 59, 801-810
- Anastasi A, Varese GC, Bosco F, Chimirri F, Marchisio VF (2009) Bioremediation potential of basidiomycetes isolated from compost. *Bioresource Tech*nology 99, 6626-6630
- Ang EL, Zhao H, Obbard JP (2005) Recent advances in the bioremediation of persistent organic pollutants via biomolecular engineering. *Enzyme Micro*biology and Technology 37, 487-496
- Ansari AA (2008) Effect of vermicompost on the productivity of potato (Sola-

num tuberosum), spinach (Spinacia oleracea) and turnip (Brassica campestris). World Journal of Agricultural Science 4, 333-336

- Aziz HA, Adlan MN, Ariffin KS (2008) Heavy metals (Cd, Pb, Zn, Ni, Cu and Cr(III)) removal from water in Malaysia, Post treatment by high quality limestone. *Bioresource Technology* 99, 1578-1583
- Barbarick KA, Ippolito JA, Westfall DG (1998) Extractable trace elements in the soil profile after years of biosolids application. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27, 801-805
- Barker AV, Bryson GM (2002) Bioremediation of heavy metals and organic toxicants by composting. *The Scientific World Journal* 2, 407-420
- Bartl B, Hartl W, Horak O (2002) Long-term application of biowaste compost versus mineral fertilization: Effects on the nutrient and HM contents of soil and plants. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* 165, 161-165
- Belkacem M, Khodir M, Abdelkrim S (2008) Treatment characteristics of textile wastewater and removal of heavy metals using the electroflotation technique. *Desalination* 228, 245-254
- Benedetti MF, Van Rinniburgh P (1995) Metal ion binding to humic substances: A application of the non-ideal competitive adsorption model. *Environmental Science and Technology* 29, 446-457
- Berthe-Corti L, Del Panno T, Hulsch R, Morelli I (2007) Bioremediation and bioaugmentation of soils contaminated with polyaromatic hydrocarbons. *Current Trends in Microbiology* **3**, 1-30
- Bhattacharyya P, Pal R, Chakrabarti K, Chakraborty A (2004) Effect of composting on extractability and relative availability of heavy metals present in Calcutta municipal solid waste. Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science 50, 181-187
- Büyüksönmez F, Rynk R, Hess TF, Bechinski E (1999) Occurrence, degradation and fate of pesticides during composting Part I: Composting, pesticides, and pesticide degradation. *Compost Science and Utilization* 7, 66-82
- Cai Q-Y, Mo C-H, Wu Q-T, Zeng Q-Y, Katsoyiannis A, Férard JF (2007a) Bioremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)-contaminated sewage sludge by different composting processes. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 142, 535-542
- Cai QY, Mo CH, Wu QT, Zeng QY, Katsoyiannis A (2007b) Concentration and speciation of heavy metals in six different sewage sludge-composts. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 147, 1063-1072
- Carrasquero-Durán A, Flores I (2009) Evaluation of lead(II) immobilization by a vermicompost using adsorption isotherms and IR spectroscopy. *Biore*source Technology 100, 1691-1694
- Carrillo-Gonzalez R, Simunek J, Sauve S, Adriano D (2006) Mechanisms and pathways of trace element mobility in soils. Advances in Agronomy 91, 111-178
- Ceccanti B, Masciandaro G, Garcia C, Macci C, Doni S (2006) Soil bioremediation, Combination of earthworms and compost for the ecological remediation of a hydrocarbon polluted soil. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* 177, 383-397
- Chaney RL, Ryan JA (1993) Heavy metals and toxic organic pollutants in MSW composts: Research results on phytoavailability, bioavailability, fate. In: Hoitink HAJ, Keener HM (Eds) Science and Engineering of Composting, Renaissance Press, Worthington, OH, pp 451-506
- Chang AC, Page AL, Warneke JE, Grgurevic E (1994) Sequential extraction of soil heavy metals following a sludge application. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **13**, 33-38
- Chen G, Zeng G, Tu X, Huang G, Chen Y (2005) A novel biosorbent, characterization of the spent mushroom compost and its application for removal of heavy metals. *Journal of Environmental Science (China)* 17, 756-760
- Chen C, Wang J (2007) Response of Saccharomyces cerevisiae to lead ion stress. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 74, 683-687
- Chien SWC, Huang CC, Wang MC (2003) Reactions of refuse compost-derived humic substances with lead, copper, cadmium, and zinc. *International Journal of Applied Science and Engineering* **2**, 137-147
- Chiu KK, Ye ZH, Wong MH (2006) Growth of Vetiveria zizanioides and Phragmities australis on Pb/Zn and Cu mine tailings amended with manure compost and sewage sludge: A greenhouse study. Bioresource Technology 97, 58-70
- Choi J, Lee JY, Yang JS (2009) Biosorption of heavy metals and uranium by starfish and *Pseudomonas putida*. Journal of Hazardous Materials 161, 157-162
- **Choudhary S, Sar P** (2009) Characterization of a metal resistant *Pseudomonas* sp. isolated from uranium mine for its potential in heavy metal (Ni<sup>2+</sup>, Co<sup>2+</sup>, Cu<sup>2+</sup>, and Cd<sup>2+</sup>) sequestration. *Bioresource Technology* **100**, 2482-2492
- Ciavatta C, Govi M, Simoni A, Sequi P (1993) Evaluation of heavy metals during stabilization of organic matter in compost produced with municipal solid wastes. *Bioresource Technology* 43, 147-153
- Cimino G, Cappello RM, Caristi C, Toscano G (2005) Characterization of carbons from olive cake by sorption of wastewater pollutants. *Chemosphere* 61, 947-955
- Clemente R, Escolar A, Bernal MP (2006) Heavy metals fractionation and organic matter mineralisation in contaminated calcareous soil amended with organic materials. *Bioresource Technology* 97, 1894-1901
- Clemente R, Bernal MP (2006) Fractionation of heavy metals and distribution of organic carbon in two contaminated soils amended with humic acids. *Chemosphere* 64, 1264-1273

- Davies KL, Davies MS, Francis D (1991) The influence of an inhibitor of phytochelatin synthesis on root growth and root meristematic activity in *Festuca rubra* L. in response to zinc. *New Phytologist* **118**, 565-570.
- Davis TA, Volesky B, Mucci A (2003) A review of the biochemistry of heavy metal biosorption by brown algae. Water Research 37, 4311-4330
- Dolliver H, Gupta S, Noll S (2008) Antibiotic degradation during manure composting. Journal of Environmental Quality 37, 1245-1253
- Dudev T, Lim C (2008) Metal binding affinity and selectivity in metalloproteins: Insights from computational studies. *Annual Reviews in Biophysics* 37, 97-116
- Elouear Z, Bouzid J, Boujelben N, Feki M, Montiel A (2008) The use of exhausted olive cake ash (EOCA) as a low cost adsorbent for the removal of toxic metal ions from aqueous solutions. *Fuel* 87, 2582-2589
- **Ertuğrul S, San NA, Dönmez G** (2009) Treatment of dye (Remazol Blue) and heavy metals using yeast cells with the purpose of managing polluted textile wastewaters. *Ecological Engineering* **35**, 128-134
- Fountoulakis MS, Makridis L, Pirounaki EK, Chroni C, Kyriacou A, Lasaridi K, Manios T (2010) Fate and effect of linuron and metribuzin on the cocomposting of green waste and sewage sludge. *Waste Management* 30, 41-49
- Gamalero E, Lingua G, Berta G, Glick BR (2009) Beneficial role of plant growth promoting bacteria and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on plant responses to heavy metal stress. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 55, 501-514
- Gao D, Zheng G-D, Chen T-B, Liu B, Yue B, Du W (2007) Inactivation of heavy metals in sewage sludge by composting treatment. *China Water and Wastewater (China Water Wastewater)* 23, 7-10
- Garcia C, Moreno JL, Hernández T, Costa F, Polo A (1995) Effect of composting on sewage sludges contaminated with heavy metals. *Bioresource Technology* **53**, 13-19
- Garcia CT, Hernández T, Costa F (1990) The influence of composting and maturation processes on heavy metal extractability from organic waste. *Biological Wastes* **3**, 291-301
- Ghaly AE, Alkoaik F, Snow A (2006) Thermal balance of invessel composting of tomato plant residues. *Canadian Biosystems Engineering* 48, 1-11
- Giasson P, Karam A, Jaouich A (1994) Arbuscular mycorrhizae and alleviation of soil stresses on plant growth. In: Siddiqui ZA, Akhtar MS, Futai K (Eds) *Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry*, Springer, Berlin, pp 99-134
- Gibert O, de Pablo J, Cortina JL, Ayora C (2005) Municipal compost-based mixture for acid mine drainage bioremediation, Metal retention mechanisms. *Applied Geochemistry* 20, 1648-1657
- Giordano PM, Mortvert JJ, Mays DA (1975) Effect of municipal wastes on crop yields and uptake of heavy metals. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 7, 124-127
- Greenway GM, Song QJ (2002) Heavy metal speciation in the composting process. Journal of Environmental Monitoring 4, 300-305
- Gregor JE, Powell HKJ (1988) Application of sampled D.C. Anodic stripping votammetry to metal/fulvic acid equilibria. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 211, 141-154
- Grimes SM, Taylor GH, Cooper J (1999) The availability and binding of heavy metals in compost derived from household waste. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology* 74, 1125-1130
- Gu B, Schmitt J, Chen Z, Liang L, McCarthy JF (1995) Adsorption and desorption of different organic matter fractions on iron oxide. *Geochimica and Cosmochimica Acta* 59, 219-229
- Haag-Kerwer A, Schäfer HJ, Heiss S, Walter C, Rausch T (1999) Cadmium exposure in *Brassica juncea* causes a decline in transpiration rate and leaf expansion without effect on photosynthesis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 50, 1827-1835
- Hachicha S, Cegarra J, Sellami F, Hachicha R, Drira N, Medhioub K, Ammar E (2009) Elimination of polyphenols toxicity from olive mill wastewater sludge by its co-composting with sesame bark. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 161, 1131-1139
- Hall JL (2002) Cellular mechanism for metal detoxification and tolerance. Journal of Experimental Botany 53, 1-11
- Harms H, Schlosser D, Wick LY (2011) Untapped potential: exploiting fungi in bioremediation of hazardous chemicals. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 9, 177-192
- He XT, SJ Traina, TJ Logan (1992) Chemical properties of municipal solid waste compost. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 21, 318-329
- Heyes A, Moore TR, Rudd JWM (1998) Mercury and methylmercury in decomposing vegetation of a pristine and impounded wetland. *Journal of Envi*ronmental Quality 27, 591-599
- Hsu J-H, Lo SL (2000) Characterization and extractability of copper, manganese, and zinc in swine manure composts. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 29, 447-453
- Huang RM, He JY, Zhao J, Luo Q, Huang CM (2011) Fenton-biological treatment of reverse osmosis membrane concentrate from a metal plating wastewater recycle system. *Environmental Technology* 32, 515-522
- Hussein H, Farag S, Kandil K, Moawad H (2005) Tolerance and uptake of heavy metals by *Pseudomonads*. Process Biochemistry 40, 955-961
- Hyun H-N, Chang AC, Parker DR, Page AL (1998) Cadmium solubility and phytoavailability in sludge-treated soils: Effects of organic carbon. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27, 329-334

- Iwegbue CMA, Egobueze FE, Opuene K (2006a) Preliminary assessment of heavy metals levels of soils of an oil field in the Niger Delta, Nigeria. International *Journal of Environmental Science and Technology* 3, 167-172
- Iwegbue CMA, Isirimah NO, Igwe C, Williams ES (2006b) Characteristic levels of heavy metals in soil profiles of automobile mechanic waste dumps in Nigeria. *Environmentalist* 26, 123-128
- Iwegbue CMA, Emuh FN, Isirimah NO, Egun AC (2007) Fractionation, characterization and speciation of heavy metals in composts and compost-amended soils. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 6, 67-78
- Jadia CD, Fulekar MH (2008) Phytoremediation: The application of vermicompost to remove zinc, cadmium, copper, nickel and lead by sunflower plant. Environmental Engineering and Management Journal 7, 547-558
- Jardine PM, Weber NL, McCarthy JF (1989) Mechanisms of dissolved organic carbon adsorption on soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal 53, 1378-1385
- Johnsen AR, Wick LY, Harms H (2005) Principles of microbial PAH-degradation in soil. Environmental Pollution 133, 71-84
- Jordão CP, Braganç R, Fernandes A, de Lima Ribeiro K, de Souza Nascimento B, Martins de Barros P (2009) Zn(II) adsorption from synthetic solution and kaolin wastewater onto vermicompost. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 162, 804-811
- Jordão CP, Pereira MG, Einloft R, Santana MB, Bellato CR, de Mello JWV (2002) Removal of Cu, Cr, Ni, and Zn from electroplating wastes and synthetic solutions by vermicompost of cattle manure. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health A* 37, 875-892
- Kaiser K, Guggenberger G, Haumaier L, Zech W (1997) Dissolved organic matter sorption in subsoils and minerals studied by <sup>13</sup>C-NMR and DRIFT spectroscopy. *European Journal of Soil Science* 48, 301-310
- Kaschl A, Römheld V, Chen Y (2002) Cadmium binding by fractions of dissolved organic matter and humic substances from municipal solid waste compost. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 31, 1885-1892
- Kazy SK, D'Souza SF, Sar P (2009) Uranium and thorium sequestration by a *Pseudomonas* sp.: Mechanism and chemical characterization. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 163, 65-72
- Keefer RF, Codling EE, Singh RN (1984) Fractionation of metal-organic components extracted from a sludge-amended soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal 48, 1054-1059
- Khan Z, Anjaneyulu Y (2006) Bioremediation of contaminated soil and sediment by composting. *Remediation Journal* 16, 109-122
- Khoshgoftarmanesh AH, Aghili F, Sanaeiostovar A (2009) Daily intake of heavy metals and nitrate through greenhouse cucumber and bell pepper consumption and potential health risks for human. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition* **60**, 199-208
- Kocasoy G, Güvener Z (2009) Efficiency of compost in the removal of heavy metals from the industrial wastewater. *Environmental Geology* 57, 291-296
- Koivula N, Hanninen K, Tolvanen O (2000) Windrow composting of source separated kitchen biowaste in Finland. Waste Management and Research 18, 160-173
- Korotaev GK, Chlenov MA, Kir'ianov AV, Arazashvili AI, Kuznetsova EK, Ivannikov AT, Altukhova GA, Parfenova IM (1992) Modified calcium alginate - a highly effective agent for eliminating radioactive strontium. *Radiobiologiia* **32**, 126-129
- Krogmann U (1999) Effect of season and population density on source-separated waste composts. Waste Management and Research 17, 109-123
- Kurek E (2002) Microbial mobilization of metals from soil minerals under aerobic conditions. In: Huang PM, Bollag JM, Senesi N (Eds) *Interactions between Soil Particles and Microorganisms*, Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK, pp 189-225
- Kurniawan TA, Chan GYS, Lo W-H, Babel S (2006) Physico-chemical treatment techniques for wastewater laden with heavy metals. *Chemical Engineering Journal* 118, 83-98
- Kuzovkina YA, Knee M, Quigley MF (2004) Cadmium and copper uptake and translocation in five willow (Salix L.) species. International Journal of Phytoremediation 6, 269-287
- Laborda F, Bolea E, Górriz MP, Martín-Ruiz MP, Ruiz-Beguería S, Castillo JR (2008) A speciation methodology to study the contributions of humic-like and fulvic-like acids to the mobilization of metals from compost using size exclusion chromatography-ultraviolet absorption-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry and deconvolution analysis. *Analytica et Chimica Acta* 606, 1-8
- Leita L, De Nobili M (1991) Water-soluble fractions of heavy metals during composting of municipal solid waste. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 20, 73-78
- Liang BC, Gregorich EG, Schnitzer M, Schulten HR (1996) Characterization of water extracts of two manures and their adsorption on soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 60, 1758-1763
- Liu Y, Ma L, Li Y, Zheng L (2007) Evolution of heavy metal speciation during the aerobic composting process of sewage sludge. *Chemosphere* 67, 1025-1032
- Logan EM, Pulford ID, Cook GT, MacKenzie AB (1997) Complexation of Cu<sup>2+</sup> and Pb<sup>2+</sup> by peat and humic acid. *European Journal of Soil Science* **48**, 685-696
- Lokhande RS, Singare PU, Andhale ML, Acharya A, Nair AGC, Reddy

**AVR** (2010) Determination of macro, micro nutrient and trace element concentrations in Indian medicinal plants using instrumental neutron activation analysis and atomic absorption spectroscopy techniques. *International Journal of Food Safety, Nutrition and Public Health* **3**, 33-44

- Lu X, Kruatrachue M, Pokethitiyook P, Homyok K (2004) Removal of cadmium and zinc by water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes. Science Asia* 30, 93-103
- Lu WB, Shi JJ, Wang CH, Chang JS (2006) Biosorption of lead, copper and cadmium by an indigenous isolate *Enterobacter* sp. J1 possessing high heavy-metal resistance. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **134**, 80-86
- Lü JC, Li ZT, Hussain K, Yang GK (2011) Bioremediation: The new directions of oil spill cleanup. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research* 7, 738-740
- Madrid F, López R, Cabrera F (2007) Metal accumulation in soil after application of municipal solid waste compost under intensive farming conditions. *Agricultural Ecosystems and Environment* **119**, 249-256
- Mahimairaja S, Bolan NS, Adriano DC, Robinson R (2005) Arsenic contamination and its risk and management in complex environmental settings. *Advances in Agronomy* 86, 1-82
- Malley C, Nair J, Ho G (2006) Impact of heavy metals on enzymatic activity of substrate and on composting worms *Eisenia fetida*. *Bioresource Technol*ogy 97, 1498-1502
- Marques APGC, Rangel AOSS, Castro PML (2009) Remediation of heavy metal contaminated soils: Phytoremediation as a potentially promising cleanup technology. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology* 39, 622-654
- Martínez-Huitle CA, De Battisti A, Ferro S, Reyna S, Cerro-López M, Quiro MA (2008) Removal of the pesticide methamidophos from aqueous solutions by electrooxidation using Pb/PbO<sub>2</sub>, Ti/SnO<sub>2</sub>, and Si/BDD electrodes. *Environmental Science and Technology* 42, 6929-6935
- McBride MD (1998) Soluble trace elements in alkaline stabilized sludge products. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27, 578-584
- McBride MB, Richards, BK, Steenhuis T, Spiers G (1999) Long-term leaching of trace elements in a heavily sludge-amended silty clay loam soil. *Soil Science* 164, 613-623
- Moolenaar SW, Beltrami P (1998) Heavy metal balances of an Italian soil as affected by sewage sludge and Bordeaux mixture applications. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 27, 828-835
- Munnoli PM, Teixeira da Silva JA, Bhosle S (2010) Dynamics of the soilearthworm-plant relationship. In: Karmegam N (Ed) Vermitechnology II. Dynamic Soil, Dynamic Plant 4 (Special Issue 1), 1-21
- O'Dell R, Silk W, Green P, Claassen V (2007) Compost amendment of Cu-Zn minespoil reduces toxic bioavailable heavy metal concentrations and promotes establishment and biomass production of *Bromus carinatus* (Hook and Arn.). *Environmental Pollution* 148, 115-124
- O'Donnell I, Malcolm D, Swallow I, Ogden R, Bulloch G (2001) Nitrocellulose waste fines, bioremediation by a turned windrow composting system. In: 6<sup>th</sup> International in Situ and on Site Bioremediation Symposium, San Diego, CA, pp 119-126
- Okpokwasili GC, Nweke CO (2006) Microbial growth and substrate utilization kinetics. *African Journal of Biotechnology* **5**, 305-317
- Oleszczuk P (2008) Phytotoxicity of municipal sewage sludge composts related to physico-chemical properties, PAHs and heavy metals. *Ecotoxicological* and Environmental Safety 69, 496-505
- Pant P, Pant S (2010) A review: Advances in microbial remediation of trichloroethylene (TCE). Journal of Environmental Science 22, 116-126
- Paré T, Dinel H, Schnitzer M (1999) Extractability of trace metals during cocomposting of biosolids and municipal solid wastes. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 29, 31-37
- Paré T, Dinel H, Schnitzer M, Dumonet S (1998) Transformation of carbon and nitrogen during composting of animal manure. *Biology and Fertility of Soils* 26, 173-178
- Park S, Kang D, Kim Y, Lee SM, Chung Y, Sung K (2011) Biosorption and growth inhibition of wetland plants in water contaminated with a mixture of arsenic and heavy metals. *Engineering in Life Sciences* 11, 84-93
- Peigne J, Girardin P (2004) Environmental impacts of farm-scale composting practices. Water, Air and Soil Pollution 153, 45-68
- Peng K, Li X, Luo C, Shen Z (2006) Vegetation composition and heavy metal uptake by wild plants at three contaminated sites in Xiangxi area, China. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part A* 40, 65-76
- Perales-Vela HV, Peña-Castro JM, Cañizares-Villanueva RO (2006) Heavy metal detoxification in eukaryotic microalgae. *Chemosphere* 64, 1-10
- Perdue EM (1985) Acidic functional groups of humic substances. In: Aiken GR (Ed) Humic Substances in Soil, Sediment, and Water, John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp 493-526
- Peters S, Koschinsky S, Schwieger F, Tebbe CC (2000) Succession of microbial communities during hot composting as detected by PCR-Single-Strand-Conformation-Polymorphism-based genetic profiles of small-subunit rRNA genes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66, 930-936
- Petiot C, de Guardia A (2004) Composting in a laboratory reactor, a review. Compost Science and Utilization 12, 69-79
- Petruzzeli G (1989) Recycling wastes in agriculture: Heavy metal bioavailability. Agricultural Ecosystems and Environment 27, 493-503

- Piccolo A, Stevenson FJ (1981) Infrared spectra of Cu<sup>2+</sup>, Pb<sup>2+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> complexes of soil humic substances. *Geoderma* 27, 195-208
- Puig S, Peñarrubia L (2009) Placing metal micronutrients in context: Transport and distribution in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12, 299-306
- Rao N, Grethlein HE, Reddy CA (1995) Mineralization of atrazine during composting with untreated and pretreated lignocellulosic substrates. *Compost Science and Utilization* 3, 38-46
- Rao N, Grethlein HE, Reddy CA (1996) Effect of temperature on composting of atrazine-amended lignocellulosic substates. *Compost Science and Utilization* 3, 83-88
- Romera E, González F, Ballester A, Blázquez ML, Muñoz JA (2007) Comparative study of biosorption of heavy metals using different types of algae. *Bioresource Technology* 98, 3344-3353
- Romero E, Plaza C, Senesi N, Nogales R, Polo A (2007) Humic acid-like fractions in raw and vermicomposted winery and distillery wastes. *Geoderma* 139, 397-406
- Ryckeboer J, Mergaert J, Vaes K, Klammer S, De Clercq D, Coosemans J, Insam H, Swings J (2003) A survey of bacteria and fungi occurring during composting and self-heating processes. *Annals of Microbiology* 53, 349-410
- Saar RS, Weber JH (1979) Complexation of cadmium (II) with water- and soil-derived fulvic acids: Effect of pH and fulvic acid concentration. *Canadian Journal of Chemistry* 57, 1263-1268
- Şahin Y, Öztürk A (2005) Biosorption of chromium(VI) ions from aqueous solution by the bacterium *Bacillus thuringiensis*. Process Biochemistry 40, 1895-1901
- Saviozzi A, Cardelli R, Cozzolino M (2009) Bioremediation with compost of a diesel contaminated soil: Monitoring by dehydrogenase activity and basal respiration. *Compost Science and Utilization* 17, 55-60
- Semple KT, Reid BJ, Fermor TR (2001) Impact of composting strategies on the treatment of soils contaminated with organic pollutants. *Environmental Pollution* 112, 269-283
- Sharma S, Kumar A, Singh AP, Vasudevan P (2009) Earthworms and vermitechnology – A review. In: Karmegam N (Ed) Vermitechnology I. Dynamic Soil, Dynamic Plant 3 (Special Issue 2), 1-12
- Shao Z, Sun F (2007) Intracellular sequestration of manganese and phosphorus in a metal-resistant fungus *Cladosporium cladosporioides* from deep-sea sediment. *Extremophiles* 11, 435-443
- Sheng X, He L, Wang Q, Ye H, Jiang C (2008) Effects of inoculation of biosurfactant-producing *Bacillus* sp. J119 on plant growth and cadmium uptake in a cadmium-amended soil. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 155, 17-22
- Simeoni LA, Barbarick KA, Sabey BR (1984) Effect of small scale composting of sewage sludge on heavy metal availability to plants. *Journal of Envi*ronmental Quality 13, 264-268
- Sims JT, Wolf DC (1994) Poultry manure management. Advances in Agronomy 52, 1-83
- Singh R, Sharma RR, Kumar S, Gupta RK, Patil RT (2008) Vermicompost substitution influences growth, physiological disorders, fruit yield and quality of strawberry (*Fragaria x ananassa* Duch.). *Bioresource Technology* 99, 8507-8511
- Sipma J, Osuna B, Collado N, Monclús H, Ferrero G, Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I (2010) Comparison of removal of pharmaceuticals in MBR and activated sludge systems. *Desalination* 250, 653-659
- Smara A, Delimi R, Chainet E, Sandeaux J (2007) Removal of heavy metals from diluted mixtures by a hybrid ion-exchange/electrodialysis process. *Separation and Purification Technology* 57, 103-110
- Srivastava VC, Mall ID, Mishra IM (2006) Characterization of mesoporous rice husk ash (RHA) and adsorption kinetics of metal ions from aqueous solution onto RHA. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 134, 257-267
- Stevenson FJ, Fitch A, Brar MS (1993) Stability constants of Cu (II)-humate complexes: Comparison of select models. *Soil Science* 155, 77-91
- Sud D, Mahajan G, Kaur MP (2008) Agricultural waste material as potential adsorbent for sequestering heavy metal ions from aqueous solutions - A review. *Bioresource Technology* 99, 6017-6027
- Tang J, Zhang G, Wang R, Sun Q, Niu X (2009) Speciation of heavy metals

in sludge during composting and remediation of petroleum-contaminated soil. Environmental Science and Technology **32**, 13-17

- **Topcuoğlu B** (2005) Effects of repeated applications of sewage sludge and MSW compost on the bioavailability of heavy metals in greenhouse soil. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies* **14**, 217-222
- Ulmanu M, Marañón E, Fernández Y, Castrillón L, Anger I, Dumitriu D (2008) Removal of copper and cadmium ions from diluted aqueous solutions by low cost and waste material adsorbents. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* 142, 357-373
- Urdaneta C, Parra L-MC, Matute S, Garaboto MA, Barros H, Vázquez C (2008) Evaluation of vermicompost as bioadsorbent substrate of Pb, Ni, V and Cr for waste waters remediation using Total Reflection X-ray Fluorescence. Spectrochimica Acta Part B 63, 1455-1460
- Usman RA, Kuzyakov Y, Stahr K (2004) Dynamics of organic c mineralization and the mobile fraction of heavy metals in a calcareous soil incubated with organic wastes. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution* 158, 401-418
- Vala AK (2010) Tolerance and removal of arsenic by a facultative marine fungus Aspergillus candidus. Bioresource Technology 101, 2565-2567
- Vidali M (2001) Bioremediation: An overview. Pure and Applied Chemistry 73, 1163-1172
- Vinkler P, Lakatos B, Meisel J (1976) Infrared spectroscopic investigations of humic substances and their metal complexes. *Geoderma* 15, 231-242
- Walter I, Martínez F, Alonso L, Gracia J, Cuevas G (2002) Extractable soil heavy metals following the cessation of biosolids application to agricultural soil. *Environmental Pollution* 117, 315-321
- Wang J, Chen C (2006) Biosorption of heavy metals by Saccharomyces cerevisiae: A review. Biotechnology Advances 24, 427-451
- Wang Y, Yang Z, Shen Z, Tang Z, Niu J, Gao F (2011) Assessment of heavy metals in sediments from a typical catchment of the Yangtze River, China. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 172, 407-417
- Whiteley CG, Lee D-J (2006) Enzyme technology and biological remediation. Enzyme Microbiology and Technology 38, 291-316.
- Wong MH, Lau WM (1985) The effects of applications of phosphate, lime, EDTA, refuse compost and pig manure on the Pb contents of crops. *Agricultural Wastes* 12, 61-75
- Xu Y, Zhao D (2007) Reductive immobilization of chromate in water and soil using stabilized iron nanoparticles. *Water Research* 41, 2101-2108
- Yang X, Feng Y, He Z, Stoffella PJ (2005) Molecular mechanisms of heavy metal hyperaccumulation and phytoremediation. *Journal of Trace Elements* in Medicine and Biology 18, 339-353
- Zeng G, Fu H, Zhong H, Yuan Z, Fu M, Wang W, Huang G (2007) Co-degradation with glucose of four surfactants, CTAB, Triton X-100, SDS and rhamnolipid, in liquid culture media and compost matrix. *Biodegradation* 18, 303-310
- Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Liu M, Shi X, Zhao X (2008) Dark septate endophyte (DSE) fungi isolated from metal polluted soils, their taxonomic position, tolerance, and accumulation of heavy metals *in vitro*. *Journal of Microbiology* 46, 624-632
- Zhang MK, He ZL, Stoffella PJ, Calvert DV, Yang XE, Xia YP, Wilson SB (2004) Solubility of phosphorus and heavy metals in potting media amended with yard waste-biosolids compost. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 33, 373-379
- Zhao JY, Jin XL, Shen ZL, Guo HM (2011) Accumulation and risk assessment of heavy metals in vegetables in wastewater irrigation areas. Advanced Materials Research 183-185, 527-531
- Zheng GD, Gao D, Chen TB, Luo W (2007) Stabilization of nickel and chromium in sewage sludge during aerobic composting. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 142, 216-221
- Zhou LX, Yang H, Shen QR, Wong MH, Wong JWC (2000) Fractionation and characterization of dissolved organic matter derived from sewage sludge and composted sludge. *Environmental Technology* 21, 765-771
- Zhou LX, Wong JWC (2001) Effect of dissolved organic matter from sludge and sludge compost on soil copper sorption. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 30, 878-883